STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 25 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT
ORIGINAL

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WAYLAND PURNELL,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001920

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it qualified Allison Foster as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse where there was insufficient evidence of the reliability of the subject matter of her testimony or whether those matters had ever been subjected to peer review?

2.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it qualified Allison Foster as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse where the subject matter of her testimony would not assist the trier of fact as required by Rule 702, SCRE and improperly bolstered the minor complainants' credibility?

STATEMENT

Procedural History

A Richland County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the October 11, 2012 term of General Sessions for two counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor, and at the February 20, 2014 term for lewd act upon a child. R. 345-347. His case was called to trial on July 7, 2014 before the Honorable Clifton Newman, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Margaret Bodman and John Steadman represented the state, and J. Taylor Bell and Jessamine Grice represented Petitioner. R. 1.

On July 10, 2014, the jury acquitted Petitioner of one count of first degree CSC with a minor, but found him guilty of the second count as well as lewd act upon a child. R. 329, l. 21 – 330, l. 18. Judge Newman sentenced him to twenty-five years imprisonment for first degree CSC with a minor and fifteen years concurrent for lewd act. R. 331, ll. 4-17.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentence. State v. Purnell, Op. No. 2017-UP-272 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 5, 2017). App. 1-2. Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on July 20, 2017. App. 3-11. On August 18, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. App. 12. Petitioner filed the petition for writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals requesting this Court review the Court of Appeals' decision on September 18, 2017. On March 28, 2018, this Court granted the petition for a writ of certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

Evidence at Trial

Petitioner and Kia Muse began dating sometime during the year 2010. Their relationship consisted mostly of talking on Facebook and exchanging text messages. They also spent a few weekends together in Atlantic City. At some point during January 2011, Petitioner came to live

with Muse and her four children, B.M., Minor 1, Minor 2, and B.S, in New Jersey. He left to visit his family for several weeks shortly after he moved in with Muse, but returned to live with the family permanently after the couple married on March 18, 2011. R. 60, l. 24 – 61, l. 23.

The family eventually moved to Columbia, South Carolina on September 2, 2011. R. 63, l. 17-19. They moved into a four bedroom home. B.M., who was the oldest child, and B.S., the youngest child and only boy, both had their own bedrooms and Minor 1 and Minor 2 shared a bedroom. R. 65, l. 16 – 66, l. 7. Shortly after they moved, Petitioner became employed as a barber and worked long hours seven days a week. R. 67, ll. 9-23. Muse also worked, but only part-time. The children were all enrolled in school and engaged in after school activities such as Girl Scouts and Boy Scouts. Minor 1 also attended a community reading literacy program three days a week after school because she was “having problems with reading.” R. 67, l. 24 – 68, l. 11.

On April 30, 2012, Minor 1 attended the reading literacy program with her friend, D.H. R. 40, ll. 3-24. D.H.’s mother drove the children to and from the program that evening. Sometime after the program ended, Minor 1 allegedly told D.H. that she “knew what a male’s private was.” D.H. asked Minor 1 how she knew about a “male’s private” and Minor 1 allegedly “told [D.H.] what happened.” R. 40, l. 21 – 42, l. 20. D.H. shared this information with her mother, Danielle Jackson, when they arrived home, and Jackson immediately called Muse and relayed the allegations to her. R. 43, ll. 8-15; R. 47, l. 4 – 49, l. 3. Later that evening, after Muse picked Minor 1 up from Jackson’s home, she questioned B.M., Minor 1, and Minor 2. Minor 1 and Minor 2 both claimed Petitioner had sexually abused them and Muse immediately reported the allegations to law enforcement. R. 69, l. 11-21.

Petitioner was interviewed that evening by an investigator and was given permission to travel to Delaware to care for his father who had been diagnosed with stage four cancer. R. 162, l. 2

- 164, l. 14. He was instructed to stay in touch with the investigator and did so regularly. R. 173, ll. 4-24. On June 21, 2012, Petitioner was asked to return to South Carolina to further discuss the case with law enforcement. When he arrived in Columbia, an investigator picked him up, interviewed him, and eventually served him with arrest warrants. R. 164, l. 15 – 165, l. 9.

On May 22, 2012, Minor 1 and Minor 2 went to the Assessment Resource Center (ARC) to attend a forensic interview. R. 179, l. 23 – 180, l. 5; R. 230, ll. 12-18. Recordings of their forensic interviews were played for the jury over Petitioner's objection. See R. 186, ll. 3-30 and R. 231, ll. 4-15. The girls were also physically examined by a licensed pediatrician for signs of sexual abuse on that same day. Dr. Susan Luberoff testified that neither child had any signs of trauma, injury, or scarring in their vaginal or anal region that would suggest they had been sexually abused. R. 142, l. 13 – 143, l. 8; R. 145, l. 4 – 146, l. 13.

Minor 1, who was eleven years old at the time of trial, testified that when she was between eight and nine years old Petitioner had anal sex with her once at their home in New Jersey and multiple times at their house in South Carolina. R. 106, l. 13 – 109, l. 20. Minor 2, who was ten years old at the time of trial, likewise testified that when she was between seven and eight years old Petitioner had anal sex with her once at their home in New Jersey and multiple times at their house in South Carolina. R. 126, l. 25 – 127, l. 25. Surprisingly, both Minor 1 and Minor 2 indicated that the alleged abuse did not hurt. R. 108, ll. 7-8; R. 119, l. 23 – 120, l. 3; R. 51, l. 25 – 130, l. 1.

Kia Muse admitted during her testimony that she discovered Petitioner was having an affair with a woman in Chicago over the Internet and telephone. However, she claimed she did not find out about this affair until the day of Petitioner's arrest on June 21, 2012 while she was looking through Petitioner's cell phone. R. 73, l. 15 – 74, l. 24. Defense counsel suggested through his questioning that Muse discovered the affair before Petitioner's arrest after Petitioner sought to send

Girl Scout cookies to an address in Chicago earlier in the year. However, Muse denied this. Muse also denied searching through Petitioner's cell phone and discovering the affair before the allegations surfaced despite having access to his passcode. R. 86, l. 13 – 89, l. 6. Petitioner's defense was that Muse knew about the affair and sought revenge by fabricating the allegations against Petitioner. R. 311, l. 4 – 312, l. 10. Muse did admit to calling the woman in Chicago the day after Petitioner was arrested and informing her of the allegations. R. 87, l. 19 – 88, l. 13.

As stated above, there was absolutely no physical evidence of sexual abuse. The jury ultimately acquitted Petitioner of the first degree CSC with a minor charge related to Minor 2, but found him guilty of the first degree CSC with a minor charge related to Minor 1 and the lewd act charge related to Minor 2. R. 329, l. 21 – 330, l. 18.

In Camera Testimony of Allison Foster

Petitioner sought pretrial to exclude the qualification of Allison Foster as an expert in child sexual abuse assessment or the dynamics of child sexual abuse. R. 332. The nature of Petitioner's specific objections is discussed *infra*. However, Petitioner's main objections were that (1) Foster's testimony would not assist the trier of fact as required by Rule 702, SCRE; (2) her testimony would improperly bolster the complainants' testimony which is prohibited by State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013); and (3) the subject matter of her testimony is unreliable. Judge Newman qualified Foster as an expert in "the dynamics of child sexual abuse" over defense counsel's objection and found her testimony admissible. R. 260, ll. 5-15.

Foster testified in camera before the court made its ruling. Petitioner also proffered the testimony of Julie Buck to challenge Foster's testimony and discuss the unreliability of the subject matter.

Foster testified in camera that she is the “chief psychologist” at the Assessment Resource Center (ARC) in Columbia, South Carolina and also has her own private practice. R. 193, ll. 3-7. She discussed her educational background, which included an undergraduate degree from Emory University and a Ph.D. in clinical psychology from the University of South Carolina. R. 195, ll. 1-7. The vast majority of her practice and experience has been working with children who are the alleged victims of physical or sexual abuse. R. 195, ll. 12-18. Foster was also the director of the ARC for seventeen years and was responsible for conducting forensic interviews and providing therapy and counseling for physically and sexually abused children. R. 193, ll. 8-11; R. 194, ll. 9-25.

When prompted by the solicitor, Foster gave a generalized opinion that it is important to understand the dynamics of child sexual abuse and that such testimony would assist the trier of fact. She maintained that it was “a specialized area of knowledge and not something that a typical person understands.” R. 196, l. 5 – 197, l. 15.

Foster testified about the “process of disclosure,” including delayed disclosure and piecemeal disclosure. She maintained that “this phenomenon is robustly identified in our field.” R. 197, l. 16 – 198, l. 9. However, she admitted the “process of disclosure” is a “very active area of research” and is certainly not “settled science.” R. 199, ll. 6-15. She also discussed how chronic abuse can affect a child’s memory. Specifically, she explained that chronic abuse may cause a child to only remember certain incidents, but not others. Foster likewise maintained, without citing any specifics, that her testimony on memory is supported by research that is peer reviewed. R. 196, l. 18 – 197, l. 8; R. 198, l. 10 – 199, l. 5.

Additionally, Foster testified about the “child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome,” which has five components: secrecy, helplessness, “entrapment in accommodation,” “delayed

tentative unconvincing disclosure,” and recantation. She maintained that these five characteristics are not seen in every child of chronic sexual abuse, but they are characteristics that are commonly seen in “different combinations.” R. 201, l. 22 – 202, l. 2. Foster admitted this was a “descriptive” syndrome as opposed to a “diagnostic” syndrome. However, according to Foster, the “phenomenon” is currently taught in “forensic interview academies” as “part of what investigative teams ought to understand about the dynamics of child sexual abuse.” R. 200, ll. 9-25; R. 201, ll. 5-9.

On cross-examination, Foster admitted child abuse assessment is a hard topic to research because the population studied consists only of individuals who have previously made an allegation or disclosed sexual abuse and cannot account for individuals who have been abused but never disclosed. R. 204, l. 19 – 205, l. 5.

When questioned further about “child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome,” Foster testified that not all children go through all five stages outlined in the syndrome. For example, she maintained that not all children go through a stage of recantation, but almost all go through a stage of secrecy and delay in disclosing alleged abuse. R. 207, ll. 8-17. Foster admitted there was no way to provide a percentage of the number of individuals or children who delay in disclosing alleged abuse because it is impossible to know the number of individuals who never disclose at all. R. 207, l. 18 – 208, l. 15. She conceded it “is an imperfect analysis.” R. 209, ll. 9-20.

Foster also described some of the five stages further. “Secrecy” is essentially delayed disclosure. “Helplessness” is when the child feels unable to change or stop the abuse. “Entrapment and accommodation” is “the state that the child finds him or herself in when they feel helpless to change the bargain. The child molestation has begun, it is ongoing and essentially the child still had to get along with the business of life . . . [I]t’s accepting and living with something you cannot

change.” R. 212, ll. 8-24. She explained that some children accommodate by being “on their best behavior” or being very obedient while others act out or show signs of violence. R. 212, l. 25 – 213, l. 11. Other forms of accommodation are behaviors that are “inappropriate for [the child’s] age” such as bed wetting or biting. R. 213, ll. 15-21. Foster admitted that it is difficult to know whether a child’s behavior is actually “symptomatic of abuse” since “healthy children who have never experienced any kind of abuse” also exhibit such behaviors. R. 213, l. 22 – 214, l. 22.

Lastly, Foster conceded that the “dynamics of chronic child sexual abuse are complex” and that the field still has “a substantial amount of mystery and error.” R. 220, ll. 11-19.

In response to Foster’s testimony, defense counsel called Julie Buck to testify in camera. Buck has a master’s degree in research psychology from the University of Tennessee-Chattanooga and a Ph.D. in psychology from Florida State University. She is currently a full time consultant in the field of eyewitness memory, which is her specialty. Her focus is on research and teaching and thus she has not done any clinical work with children. However, Buck testified that she is familiar with the research on the “child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome” and has conducted her own research in the field. R. 225, ll. 2-18.

Buck explained that the “child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome” is not supported by research and that “[s]ome researchers have gone so far as to call it junk science.” She testified that there are a lot of “limitations” on the studies and research on the subject and that “the research community as a whole is not likely to support it because the research isn’t there.” R. 234, l. 23 – 235, l. 12.

Foster’s Testimony Before the Jury

Foster’s testimony before the jury was similar to her testimony in camera, but more detailed. She discussed a child’s memory and how it relates to chronic abuse. She explained that

“memory is often talked about in terms of three stages.” One must code it, meaning “be alert to take it in at some level through your five senses,” retain it, and then be able to retrieve it. She maintained that children who suffer chronic sexual abuse suppress memories of the abuse and have difficulty with retrieving them, especially given their undeveloped brains. She also said that some children will only be able to recall certain instances of abuse, ones that “stick out” for whatever reason, and not recall others. Further, she claimed that it is very difficult for children to remember specific dates and times of the alleged abuse. R. 261, l. 11 – 267, l. 15. Foster also discussed the “child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome” and the five factors discussed during her in-camera testimony. She explained delayed disclosures, purposeful and accidental disclosures, accommodation, and helplessness in detail. R. 267, l. 16 – 271, l. 23.

Defense counsel renewed her objection to Foster’s qualification as an expert before the jury. R. 260, ll. 5-9.

Opinion of the Court of Appeals and Petition for Hearing

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s convictions and sentence in a very brief unpublished opinion. App. 1-2. In holding that the trial court committed no abuse of discretion in qualifying Allison Foster as an expert in the field of child sexual abuse dynamics, the Court of Appeals relied heavily on State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App. 2015), State v. Jones, 417 S.C. 319, 790 S.E.2d 17 (Ct. App. 2016), and State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (1999). App. 2.

In his petition for rehearing, Petitioner argued State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) and State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (1999) are no longer good law because they predate State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009) and Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), both of which emphasized the important

gatekeeping role of trial courts in determining the admissibility of expert testimony under Rule 702, SCRE. App. 9. Significantly, Schumpert was also decided before the Rules of Evidence were even adopted in South Carolina.

Weaverling and Schumpert also predate State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013) and the line of cases that preceded it, including State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 725 S.E.2d 139, (Ct. App. 2012), State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011), and Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 689 S.E.2d 629 (2010). Petitioner strongly asserted in his petition for rehearing that Schumpert and Weaverling are no longer good law in light of this Court's holdings in White and Kromah. App. 9.

Because State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App. 2015) and State v. Jones, 417 S.C. 319, 790 S.E.2d 17 (Ct. App. 2016), which the Court of Appeals relied on in affirming Petitioner's convictions and sentence, are based in large part on Schumpert and Weaverling, Petitioner concluded both cases were wrongly decided by the Court of Appeals in addition to Petitioner's case. App. 9.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it qualified Allison Foster as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse where there was insufficient evidence of the reliability of the subject matter of her testimony or whether those matters had ever been subjected to peer review.

Relevant Facts

Defense counsel objected to the qualification of Allison Foster as an expert in the field of child sexual abuse dynamics arguing the state failed to provide sufficient evidence of the reliability of the subject matter of her testimony under State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). Counsel argued that the field is based on “junk science” and is not widely recognized. R. 245, l. 16 – 246, l. 1.

Additionally, counsel argued that the studies and research in the field are unreliable because it is impossible to control the population studied due to the nature of the subject. For example, counsel asserted that there was no way to study the subject in a laboratory setting or to compare the differences in a control group versus a study group. Defense counsel also argued that the population studied in the field is always skewed because it consists of individuals who have already disclosed alleged sexual abuse. Moreover, Foster’s personal experience is working with individuals or children who are referred to the ARC by law enforcement or the Department of Social Services on suspicion of abuse. Therefore, the group of individuals she deals with on a regular basis is not an accurate representation of the population and leads to unreliable conclusions. R. 246, ll. 2-25.

In her response, the assistant solicitor did not specifically address defense counsel's arguments on the lack of reliability of Foster's testimony. Instead, the state focused on counsel's other objections to the admissibility of her testimony. See R. 250, l. 14 – 252, l. 23.

Judge Newman ultimately held: "Though the whole field of behavioral characteristics of children who may have been sexual assault victims, child sexual abuse victims, it's difficult to place a scientific knowledge test to evaluate the reliability of the testimony based on the fact that it involves a particularized area of expertise. But I believe that from what I've heard I believe the testimony to be offered is sufficiently reliable that it meets the test for the Court in its gatekeeper function." The court went on to recognize that the subject matter of Foster's testimony has been accepted in some states and rejected in others, but refused "to weigh in on" the matter in this case. R. 252, l. 24 – 254, l. 14.

Discussion

"All expert testimony must satisfy the Rule 702 criteria, and that includes the trial court's gatekeeping function in ensuring the proposed expert testimony meets a reliability threshold for the jury's ultimate consideration." State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 270, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009); See Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010) (holding "the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable."). Rule 702, SCRE, provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

In State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 270, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009), our Supreme Court held all expert testimony, not just scientific expert testimony, must be vetted for reliability prior

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