ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 14 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Richland County
Court of General Sessions

RECEIVED

JUN 14 2018

The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2017-UP-272 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 7/5/17)
Appellate Case No. 2017-001920

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

WAYLAND PURNELL,

PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 102259

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial judge's qualification of Dr. Allison Foster as an expert in child sex abuse dynamics, and the trial judge's findings that: (1) the subject matter of her testimony was sufficiently reliable, and (2) Dr. Foster's testimony was outside the realm of knowledge of a lay juror and was not offered to bolster the victims' credibility. (Petitioner's Issues I and II).

Petitioner contends the trial judge erred in qualifying Dr. Foster as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse because there was insufficient evidence of reliability, the subject matter of her testimony was within the realm of lay knowledge and would not assist the trier of fact, and it improperly bolstered the victims' credibility. These arguments lack merit and have been correctly and conclusively resolved in recent cases from our appellate courts. The Court of Appeals thus correctly affirmed the trial judge's decision to allow Dr. Foster to testify, as the subject matter of her testimony was sufficiently reliable, outside the ken of the average lay juror, and did not impermissibly bolster the Victim's testimony.

A. Expert Qualification (Petitioner's Issue I)

Relying almost exclusively on this Court's recent decision in State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015), Petitioner asserts the trial judge erred in admitting Foster's testimony because "she failed to cite to any specific studies or explain the methods of peer review that were used," and "the subject matter of her testimony, particularly her testimony related to the child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome, is not supported by the research community," and thus the State failed to establish her testimony was reliable.¹

"Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject

¹ Petitioner makes no contention that Foster's qualifications, as reflected by her vast knowledge, experience and training, were insufficient.

matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.” Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). In cases involving scientific expert testimony, the trial court should consider the following factors: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 19, 515 S.E.2d 508, 517 (1999). However, in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony, the factors applied in an analysis of scientific evidence cannot readily be applied. See State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 688 (2009) (“The foundational reliability requirement for expert testimony does not lend itself to a one-size-fits-all approach, for the Council factors for scientific evidence serve no useful analytical purpose when evaluating nonscientific expert testimony.”). Accordingly, no formulaic approach can or must be applied to determine reliability in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony. Id. In State v. Chavis, this court concluded the testimony of child abuse assessment experts is nonscientific. 412 S.C. 101, 106, 771 S.E.2d 336, 338 (2015).

In Chavis, the trial court qualified two witnesses (Elliott and Griggs) as experts in child abuse assessment. Elliott, who had significant training and experience with the RATAC protocol for forensic interviews, and conducted a forensic interview of the victim, testified it was her expert opinion the victim’s disclosures reflected in a report issued by another forensic interviewer, who was unavailable to testify at trial, constituted disclosures of sexual abuse. 771 S.E.2d at 338-339.

This Court affirmed, with two justices finding Elliott was sufficiently trained in RATAC protocol, which she used during her forensic interviews, but there was no evidence her

conclusions or impressions from those interviews were accurate, and therefore, the trial court erred in qualifying her as an expert. As to Griggs, who also conducted a forensic interview of the victim, the two justices assumed there was sufficient evidence of reliability as to her expert qualification, but held her testimony about recommending the victim not be around the defendant for any reason improperly bolstered the victim's credibility. *Id.* at 339-340. Ultimately, however, the two justices concluded both errors were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 340-341.²

Unlike the expert testimony at issue in Chavis, Dr. Foster never interviewed the victims, Mother, or law enforcement, and did not render any opinions or recommendations that could even remotely be regarded as specific to the victims, Mother, or the allegations against Petitioner in this case. In fact, she never expressed any conclusions specific to the case at all. Therefore, the discussion of individual reliability referenced in Chavis simply does not apply to this case. See State v. Jones, 417 S.C. 319, 332, 790 S.E.2d 17, 24 (Ct. App. 2017) (“Jones primarily relies upon Chavis to support his argument that Galloway–Williams' testimony was unreliable. We find Chavis distinguishable, however, because the expert found to be unreliable in that case was qualified as a forensic interviewer and testified regarding the conclusions she reached after using the RATA method to interview the victims. In contrast, Galloway–Williams testified in general terms as to child sex abuse dynamics, focusing on delayed disclosures and the responses of nonoffending caregivers.”).

Critically, in cases such as Petitioner's case where there are allegations of juvenile sexual abuse, “[e]xpert testimony concerning child abuse typically comes from two sources: medical

²Two justices concurred in the result, but disagreed with the conclusions of error as to both Elliott and Griggs. *Id.* at 342-43 (Toal, CJ, concurring in part and dissenting in part). The fifth justice dissented, finding the errors were not harmless and the conviction should be reversed. *Id.* at 343-45 (Hearn, AJ, dissenting).

evidence provided by physicians and **behavioral science evidence** provided by psychiatrists, psychologists, and social workers.” State v. Morgan, 326 S.C. 503, 508, 485 S.E.2d 112, 115 (Ct. App. 1997) (emphasis added), overruled on other grounds by State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). Dr. Foster had specialized knowledge regarding the common behavioral characteristics exhibited by juvenile victims of sexual abuse based on her education, knowledge, training, and experience. Dr. Foster is the chief psychologist at the Assessment Resource Center at the Children’s Advocacy Center in Columbia. She has a Ph.D. in clinical psychology from the University of South Carolina and was the program director at the Assessment Resource Center from 1995 to 2012. She conducted forensic interviews, therapy with child victims of sexual abuse, and training on things like child development, language, memory, dynamics of child sexual abuse, and the process of disclosure. Dr. Foster has conducted more than 1,000 forensic interviews and testified as an expert witness in more than 100 trials. In addition to testifying in South Carolina, she has testified in Utah, District Courts in Chicago, Colorado, Iowa, Georgia, and proceedings in the U.S. court martial system. ROA. pp. 259-260. Dr. Foster testified there was research to back up the information she would provide to the jury and that research was peer reviewed. ROA. p. 197. Dr. Foster specifically testified her position is commonly accepted in the psychology community. ROA. p. 198.

The primary focus of Petitioner’s argument regarding reliability is Foster’s alleged inability to recall from memory the citations to specific studies and articles supporting her position, aside from a 1983 article by Roland Summit. This argument ignores her superb qualifications and significant field experience working with children and examining their behavioral characteristics, as well as her assurances that the research supporting her testimony was in fact commonly accepted in the psychology community and the studies were subject to

peer review. Petitioner also fails to acknowledge the lack of any studies indicating the mass of studies supporting her testimony were unreliable, and the so-called expert produced by the defense to rebut Dr. Foster's claim was an expert in a different field. There is significant evidence in the record to support the trial judge's finding that Dr. Foster's expert testimony was based on accepted principles in the field of child sex abuse assessment and treatment, and was reliable.³ Petitioner's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

B. Necessity of Expert Testimony and Improper Bolstering (Petitioner's Issue II)

Petitioner also erroneously contends the subject matter of Dr. Foster's testimony would not assist the trier of fact as required by Rule 702, SCRE, and that Dr. Foster's testimony improperly bolstered the victims' testimony. Petitioner avers the only purpose of Dr. Foster's testimony was to circumvent the mandate of State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), and improperly bolster the testimony of the Victims.

Expert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims, and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts, is relevant and helpful in explaining to the jury the typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault. State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999). It assists the jury in understanding some of the aspects of victims' behavior, and provides insight into a sexually abused child's often strange demeanor. Id. See also State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015) ("Certainly we recognize that there is such an expertise [child abuse assessment]:

³This type of expert testimony is recognized and admissible in numerous jurisdictions, and discussed in legal publications. See John E. B. Meyers, Expert Testimony in Child Sexual Abuse Litigation: Consensus and Confusion, 14 U.C. Davis J. Juv. L. & Pol'y 1, 45-46 (2010) ("[F]rom a psychological point of view, expert testimony about delay, inconsistency, and recantation is not controversial. From the legal perspective, such testimony is not worrisome." [footnotes omitted]); see also Elizabeth Trainor, Admissibility of Expert Testimony on Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome (CSAAS) in Criminal Case, 85 A.L.R. 5th 595 §3 (Originally published in 2001) (discussion of testimony regarding general behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims and list of cases addressing the issue).

this is the type of expert who can, for example testify to the behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims.”) (citing State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 [1993]; Weaverling, and State v. White, 361 S.E. 407, 605 S.E.2d 540 [2004])⁴; State v. Smith, 411 S.C. 161, 767 S.E.2d 212, 217-18 (Ct. App. 2015) (cert. denied June 17, 2015) (“When sexual abuse occurs, particularly if the victim is a child, the victim may not be able to immediately disclose the abuse for numerous reasons, including the victim’s feelings of shame over what happened and the victim’s fear of or intimidation by the perpetrator. We find this was an appropriately general explanation [by an expert witness] of the medical or scientific reasons a child might not immediately disclose sexual trauma.”)

Contrary to Petitioner’s assertions, as expressly recognized by the Supreme Court in Anderson, the behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims is **not** a subject familiar to the common juror. In the absence of experience dealing with child sex abuse, it is unreasonable to think a lay person has sufficient knowledge regarding the impact of sex abuse on children and their behavior for even a basic understanding of how abused children may respond to the abuse and/or the perpetrator. Indeed, much of victims’ actions seem counter-intuitive or outlandish to people who have never experienced the horror of sexual abuse. Therefore, an expert with specialized training and experience dealing with child sex abuse victims, such as Dr. Foster, can assist the jury in understanding their behavior. See White, 605 S.E.2d at 544 (expert testimony and behavioral evidence may be **more** crucial when the victims are children, whose inexperience and impressionability often render them unable to effectively articulate events giving rise to criminal sexual behavior); State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 342 768 S.E.2d 246, 251 (Ct. App. 2015) (cert. denied August 6, 2015) (“We believe the unique and often perplexing behavior

⁴Petitioner continues the defense bar’s attempts to relegate Weaverling and Schumpert to “outdated” status after State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). This argument completely ignores this Court’s affirmation of those cases in Anderson.

exhibited by child sex abuse victims does not fall within the ordinary knowledge of a juror with no prior experience—either directly or indirectly—with sexual abuse. The general behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims are, therefore, more appropriate for an expert qualified in the field to explain to the jury, so long as the expert does not improperly bolster the victims' testimony.”). See generally People v. Baenziger, 97 P.3d 271, 275 (Colo. Ct. App. 2004) (“Because the ‘lay notion of what behavior logically follows the experience of being raped may not be consistent with the actual behavior which social scientists have observed from studying rape victims,’ expert testimony explaining these reactions is helpful to the jury in determining whether this delay should support the conclusion that the sexual assault did not occur.” (citations omitted)).

The current case presents circumstances similar to this Court’s analysis of battered woman’s syndrome in State v. Hill, 287 S.C. 398, 339 S.E.2d 121 (1986). In Hill, this Court explained battered woman’s syndrome is “a series of common characteristics that appear in women who are abused physically and psychologically over an extended period of time by the dominant male figure in their lives.” Id. at 400, 339 S.E.2d at 122 (citing State v. Kelly, 97 N.J. 178, 193, 478 A.2d 364, 371 (N.J. 1984)). The Hill Court concluded expert testimony regarding battered woman’s testimony was not only relevant to the defendant’s claim of self-defense in the case, but critical, because it was relevant to the issue of self-defense and highly probative of the defendant’s state of mind. Similarly, expert testimony about general behavioral characteristics of children who have been sexually abused gives the jury critical insight into a victim’s state of mind and provides context about their psychological responses. As in Hill, this Court should find that Dr. Foster’s testimony was not only relevant, but critical.

Dr. Foster's testimony in this case was the type of expert general behavioral testimony recently affirmed in Anderson, Jones, and Brown, and previously approved in Schumpert and Weaverling. Despite Petitioner's continued insistence the substance of Dr. Foster's testimony was not outside the realm of ordinary lay jurors, a contention already soundly rejected by South Carolina courts, her testimony was relevant, and assisted the jury in understanding the evidence and determining a fact in issue. See Rule 702, SCRE (expert with specialized knowledge may testify if it will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue).

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